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. InHealth Group Holdings PLC
" Annual Report and Financial Stotements
for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Strateglc Report
Prmcupal activities

-The pnnmpal activities of InHealth Group Holdings PLC fogether with its subsidiaries. (“InHealth” -
or "the Group") are the provision of a broad range of diagnostic services and healthcare
solutions in both Hospital based and Community or General Practice environments throughout
the UK. The business provides diagnostic tests, scans, assessments, and procedures to patients
working in close pon‘nershnp with the NHS as well as private heolthcore provuders

Revnew of the busmess

Constantly increasing demand for heolthcore is an ongoing challenge for the UK as weII as the
rest of the world, with a clear need for providers to increase efficiencies and introduce new
models of care, whilst maintaining quality and increasing focus towards prevention and early
detection. This requires changes in operating systems, location, leadership, culture, capability,
and considerable capital investment. InHealth supports these requirements,” working with
patients, providers, commissioners, and referrers. Our flexible and dynamic approach is helping
to meet some of healthcare's most pressing challenges; by reducing waiting times, moving
non-emergency care out of the hospital setting, speeding up diagnoses, saving money and
improving the overall patient experience. We invest capital and design and adapt our solutions
to meet changing demands from region to region. We work coliaboratively with the. NHS
seeking to enhance and improve performance continuously.

The po‘ce»of change in healthcare also means that tonor—mode, flexible solutions often need
to be delivered -quickly and InHealth can offer shorter term mobile ‘services delivering
operational and financial benefits. InHealth demonstrates efficiencies by investing in the best,
most modern equipment, thus minimising downtime and maximising utilisation of assets and
strives to improve speed, quality and value through productivity and innovation. In an
increasingly workforce-constrained environment, our ongoing investment in recrumng training.
and developing staff is cmother key contributor to our success.

The impadct of COVID-19 has contributed to large waiting lists of patients seeking clinical
assessments and procedures. This is apparent notably in Elective care, Cancer pathways as
well as a number of other disease areas. It is clear that Diagnostic scans and tests are a key
component.in the targeted reduction of waiting lists and that Prevention and assessments will
be increasingly prevalent in the future. It is also clear that there is an increasing trend to deliver
these tests, scans and assessments in out of hospital settings:

We provide tests, scans and health screening in the UK for more than 4 million patients per -
annum, from over 800 clinical locations. We .have a clear purpose across all our services; to
make healthcare better; by prowdnng a quick, easily accessible and occurcﬁe assessment of

every patient’'s condition enabling the right treatment to be delivered swiftly and effectively.

Healthcare is also changing, with technology underpinning. and driving productivity changes

from. online delivery of services through to' deploying the latest artificial inteligence

developments. This evolution has accelerated with the challenges to healthcare service

delivery presented by COVID-19. InHealth is actively engaged in these changes and manages

a Ventures fund that "invests in early-stage -digital health companies, with 17 minority

investments made to date as we look to champion the next wave of fechnology driven
improvements to healthcare.

The Directors have assessed forecosts for the next 12 month period from the date of the
approval of the Financial Statéments and consider that sufficient funds are available to meet
liabilities as they fall due and therefore have prepared the Financial Statements on a going
concern basis (see note 1.2 for further information on the goeing concern basis of preparation}.



InHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Strategic Report (continued)’
Progress through the year -

Despite the |mpoc1 of COVID 19 InHeoIth conhnues to.look to sfrengthen its service offer to its
customers. ’ .

On 30 June 2022 the Group comple'red a new pon‘nership with C7 Health. TAC Heol’rhcore ’
- Limited, the new organisation is now part of the Group as a majority-owned subsidiary of

IInHeolth Limited. It comprises the services that sit within C7 Health {Diagnostic World, TAC

Healthcare and Private GP Services), and combines them with some of InHeglth's services —

Endoscopy. Pathology, Ultrasound, Physiological Measurements and Echocardiography.

A significant amount of investment has been made into Community Diagnostic Centre projects
as well-as radiology investment at NHS Trust sites. We have continued to invest in our mobile
fleet capacity with additional MRI, CT and PET-CT scanners together with further endoscopy
units added to the fleet. We are supporting 16 programmes for Targeted Lung Health Checks.

During the year, our early-stage digi’rql'h_eolth investments continued with InHealth Ventures
" Limited (“InHealth Ventures") investing in new Al driven companies NeuroFenix, Cancer Clinics
and Visana for a total consideration of £3.1 million. In addition, follow on mves’rments were
made in Laudio and. Agamon for £0.4 million.

. The Group anticipates that it will continue to have oppoﬁuhifies to grow where healthcare
challenges . meet with. our skills and capabilities to offer clinical excellence, efficiency and
productivity benefits to our patients and customers. -

Key performance md:cators

Management monﬂors progress by reference to- Key Performonce Indicators {KPIs), which
include clinical indicators, patient satisfaction, staff engagement, revenue, margin return on
revenue and profit before tax. -

- Clinical performonce is cIoser monlfored with a range of measures and metrics.  Incident
reporting is paramount to this and has weekly formal review. We receive periodic inspections
from the CQC in relation to ‘our CQC registered sites and services. The outcomes of such
inspections are available via the CQC website. - '

Patient satisfaction, measured using the Friends and Family Test, showed that over 98% (2021:
98%) of our patients actively.recommend our setvices. In 2022 InHealth achieved a 78% staff
- engagement score (2021:76%). - »

The Group's revenue in the year for conhnumg operations was £253.8 million {2021: £218'O i
~ million), generating an operating profit | morgln of 6% (2021: 2%) with a profit after tax for the
year at £12.1 million {2021: £7.6 million).

The Group's net assets have increased to £163.9 million (2021: £130 3 million) due to the profit
after’ 1ox for the year and the C7 Heolfh ocqumhon

InHeoIth Group Holdings PLC has ogonn not paid any dividends ond instead has continued to
reinvest cash .generated back into the Group to support future growth

Development and future outiook -

InHealth will continue to support NHS partners with services and solutions. The Group continues
. to be ready and willing to make investment, including the provision of capital, in long term

projects to support the NHS with its short; medium and long term objectives. To further support

proposed investments and growth, following the year end the Group has implemented a
. revolving credit facility.

Throug}houf the year and since the year end the Group. has continued to invest in growing
equipment capacity, often ahead of contracted demand. A rigorous policy is followed to

keep all assets maintained to a high standard including regular upgrades-to keep equipment

current with technological developments. Movements |n flxed ossets during the year are set
out in note 10 to the Financial Sfotements
=
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Strategic Report (continved)
Development and future outlook (continued)

Following the new portnership with C7 Health that comp]efed in the year we will continue to
work with the new group to mtegrofe and dlign systems and structures in order to realise
syhergies. ) .

PnnC|poI risks'’and uncerfalnhes

All risks are monitored on an on- gomg basis by fhe Directors and sfrofegles are developed as
appropriate to mitigate against. such risks and minimise their impact. The pnncrpol risks and
uncertomhes of the Group are set out below. .

Pricing risk _ :

The Group faces exposure to potential prlcmg risk, particularly- fhot driven by NHS National Tcmff
Payment System. It is essential for sustainability of services and long. term planning that
commensurate payment is given to providers relative to actual costs of service delivery. We
communicate with the NHS both mdrvrduolly and collectively with other mdependenf provrders
to mitigate this risk.

This risk is further mmgofed by the Group hovrng a broad range of customers actoss numerous
_ service lines reducing srngle customer dependency. .

Regulatory risk
‘Regulatory compliance is extremely closely monitored wr'rh rigorous internal governonce Our .
Chief Medical Officer reports directly to the Board, and overseas a Board To Floor Governance
structure. ,

- Interndl compliance is enhanced with clinical quality audits performed across the Group.

External regulatory compliance is captured across a range of rnferociions, notably -
accreditation with relevant ISO standards and inspections from CQC

Repufafronal risk :
Damage to our reputcmon could have serious ramifications on current ond future busrness The
. Group holds itself to extremely high standards in everything it does. In the clinical domain this
is extremely pertinent with stringent clinical governance policies and procedures implemented, -
reviewed, and monitored across the Group and robust controls in place for managing patient
- information. The Board overseas a Board to Floor Governonce sfruc'rure to ensure adherence
to Governance policies. .

Political and Economic risk ] .
The global political landscape, the war in Ukrorne combrned with the lingering impact of

COVID-19 has severely impacted many local economies around the globe and’is creating . - '

" considerable uncertainty for economies and markets. This has created inflationary pressures on
a number of key supply chains with inflation at its highest level for well over a decade.
Governments and central banks have responded with monetary and fiscal interventions to
attempt to stabilise economic conditions. The Directors believe that our business resilience is
sufficient to deal with this, but the impact on economies and markets will be hrghly correloted
with the effectiveness of these measures.

Supply Chain risk.. .

Disruptions to supply chain could create arisk to service delivery. Post the COVID-19 outbreak ,
enhanced contingency plons in relation to supply chain have been implemented across ali
Group service lines. Effective communication with suppliers and key stakeholders is essential
to mitigating this risk. -Where feasible and practical the Group erI use a range of suppliers to
mmgote a potential single porm of fculure
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. Strategic Report (conﬁnued)

'$172(1) Statement: Directors’ sfctement of compllonce with duty to promote the success of the
_Group . .

Engaging with sfakeholders -

The Directors have ‘a duty to promote the success of the Group which is a key consideration
when deTermining the Group's strategy. Building positive relationships with stakeholders that
share our values is important to us and working fogether towards shared goals assists us in
. delivering long-term sustainable success.

The leadership teams of each sewlce moke decisions with a long-term view in mind and with
the highest standards.of conduct in line with Group policies. In order to fulfil their duties, the
Directors of each service and the Group take care to have regard to the likely consequences
on all stakeholders of the decisions and actions which they take. Where possible, decisions are
carefully discussed with affected groups and are therefore fully understood and supported
when taken. In instances when the Directors do not have all the information relevant to a
decision, itisimportant to consider the expertise of others and care is taken to assess the source,
quality and quantity of all mformohon ovclloble '

Reports are regulorly mode to the Group Board by The operating units about the strategy.
performance and key decisions taken which provides the Board with assurance that proper
consideration is given to stakeholder interests in decision-making. At Group level, the Board is
well informed about the views of stakeholders through regular reporting and it uses this
.information to assess the impact of decisions on each stakeholder group as part of its own
decision-making process. Details of the Group key stokeholders and how we engage with them
are set out below

" Shareholders.

As owners of our Group we rely on the support of shareholders and their opinions are important
to us. Discussions with shareholders cover a wide range of topics including financial
- performance, strategy, -outlook, governance and ethical practices. Shareholder feedback is
regularly reported and discussed by the Board on a monthly basis and their views are
- considered as part of decision-making: The Board consulted with shareholders regarding the
C7 Health partnership in 2022. The acquisition was considered to be value-enhancing for the
Group, enhancing our existing service offerings and crechng access to new market segments
for growth.

'Colleagues

Our people are key to our success and we want them to be successful |nd|V|duclly ‘and as a
team. The Directors aim to attract and retain talented employees from diverse backgrounds
and industries by building a culture based on integrity, respect and inclusion in which people -
have opportunities to do purpose-driven work that impacts patients and our communities.
There are many ways we engage with and listen to our people including colleague surveys,
staff forums, listening groups, face-to-face briefings, internal communities, and newsletters. In
2022, key areas of focus included health and. well-being, equality, diversity and inclusion,
development opportunities. pay and benefits and long service recognition. Regular reports
about what is important to our colleagues are made to the Directors ensuring consideration’is
given to colleague needs and members of the Executive Team attend staff partnership forums
“to hear feedback directly. The Board considered the interests of employees in the new C7
partnership, particularly in 1erms of 'rhe posmve impact in continuing to drive momentum within

© " the business.
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Strategic Report (continued)

$172(1) Statement: Directors’ statement of compllance with duty to promote the success of the
Group (conhnued) .

Colleagues | conhnued}

The Group employs 3,175 dedicated and committed people as at 30 September 2022, the
majority working with patients every day in both hospital and community settings across the
UK. We believe that investing in training is a key reason that staff are attracted to InHealth as
an employer, subsequently enabling them to reach their full potential enabling the delivery of
excellent care to all of our patients. InHealth achieved a 78% staff engagement score in The
year and delivered over 8,000 training days.

Customers

We have 515 separate NHS payor customer contracts, and an understanding of the
requirements of working nationally, regionally and locally to serve and enhance patient needs.
During the financial year we served over 4 million patients. Our ambition is. to ensure every
patient receives their medical test, scan or examination quickly and delivered to the highest
standard of care. We seek to understand their needs and views and listen to how we can
improve our service for them through our patient feedback process. We use this knowledge to’
- inform our decision-making, to tailor our offering to suit patient demands. The Board considered
the needs of customers in the financial year when investing in new Community Diagnostic
Centres-to improve accessibility and provide choice for customers, and invested in capital to .
keep current with technological developments and provide the highest standard of care. We
continued to make digital heol'rh investments in 2022 fhrough our understanding of customer
needs and preferences . :

Suppliers

We-build strong relationships with our suppliers to develop mutually beneficial and lasting
partnerships, ‘continuously assessing the priorities of those with whom we work. Key areas of
focus include innovation, product development,: health and safety and sustainability. The
Directors recognise that relationships with suppliers are important to the Group's long-term
success and are briefed on supplier feedback and issues on a regular basis.

- Communities

Delivering InHealth's purpose to make healthcare better requires strong mutually beneficial
relationships with hospitals and commissioners across the NHS and independent-sector. We
engage with the communities in which we operate to build trust and understand the local
issues that are important to them. We partner with local charities to raise awareness and funds.
The key issues and themes across local communities are reported back to the Directors. The
impact of decisions on the environment both locally and nationally is considered with initial
" concentration on fleet transport and generator emissions reduction.

Government and regulators

We engage with the government and regulators Thrbugh a range of industry consultations,
forums, meetings and conferences to communicate our views to policy makers relevant to
healthcare organisations. Key areas of focus are compliance with laws and regulations, health
and safety and product safety. The Directors are updated on legal and regulatory
developments and take these into account when considering future actions.

' Corporate and social responsibility

The Group is committed to transparency and ethical behaviour in all of its activities, as well as
making a positive social, economic and environmental contribution to the community in which
it operates. The Group strives to be open and honest in communicating its policies, strategies,
targets, performance and governance to its stakeholders. The Group is proud of the way in
which its employees demonstrate Ithei'r commitment and integrity, both in their day to day work,
but also through their work with charities, communities and environmental projects every year.

)
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Strategic Report (continued) v
Corporate and social responsibility {continued)

InHealth actively pursues a stance of zero tolerance for discrimination of any kind. All
employees attend a course designed to highlight equality and diversity issues they may face
in the workplace and to reinforce the Group strategy. This is refreshed on a regular basis as we
continue to seek to develop and improve our approach. The Group.has a specific, executive
chaired, Equality, Diversity and Inclusion forum. We have a number of further mechanisms to
allow employees to speak up including a team of Freedom to Speak up Guardians, and our
staff partnership forum acts as a further mechonlsm to escalate issues and shope policy and
practice.

The Group is committed to ochng with integrity and tronsporency in all tax matters as porf of
its corporate responsibility. - )

Climate change and sustainability
Streamlined Energy & Carbon Reporting (SECR)

The Group is committed to making all reasonable efforts to minimise the impact placed on the ‘
environment arising from our business activities. We are seeking ways to become more
environmentally friendly and find cleaner and greener ways to operate. The Group endeavours
to continually improve its envi'ronmentol performance and manage the impact of its
operohons through sustainable business practices and providing sustainable services.

The Board hos continued to address a number of areas of the Group's approach to climate
change and sustainability. The sustainability approach starts with establishing the Group's
emissions baseline position and setting out our het zero pathway. The NHS Erigland Public Board.
.approved aroadmap to help suppliers align with its net zero ambition between now and 2030.
This approach builds on the UK Government procurement policy (PPN 06/20 and PPN 06/21).
This is a helpful framework for InHealth in setting out its net zero pathway and we are using this
roadmap to shape and iterate our net zero and carbon reduction plans. We continue to focus
on and improve our part of the direct owned or controlled emission sour'ces,v while also
considering indirect emissions from purchased and provided energy, and other emissions in
InHealth's value chain. The approach to Corporate and Social Responsibility is reviewed on an
annual basis in a continual commitment to sustainable and responsible development.

In the year ending 30 September 2022 we have replaced a number of our older scanners to
" reduce energy and helium usage, partnering with a third party to decrease tractor mileage .
related emissions and signed a REGO-certified 100% renewable electricity contract with
supplier BRYT to move-all electricity contracts as they expire. In addition, we are increasing the
use of Hydrofreofed Vegetable Ol (HVO) in our generators instead of white diesel.

We recognise that climate change is a global issue that requires significant focus.from both
individuals and companies. It is a journey that we have embarked on and we understand that
we need to focus our efforts in the short, medium and long term. The Board believes we have
made good progress in 2022 and’ is pleased with the projects and initiatives we have
uhdertaken. : o :

In 2023 we intend to achieve ISO 14001 and ISO 5001 certification to direct and validate our
Net Zero journey and to maintain that standard going forward. We will mature our data
" reporting to embed it ‘within Group and Company processes and. actively engage with .
partners to increase available actual data and reduce the use of assumptions in our
calculations. /A combination of guided discussions and onhne learning material will increase
v employee sustainability knowledge and awareness. :
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Strategic Report (continued)
Climate change and sustainability (cdnﬁnued}

The Group is now reporting greenhouse gas emissions in line with PPN 06/21 requiremenfs, using
data from énergy use in operating large medical devices, fleet transportation mileage,
production processes of plant and equioment, facilities operations, and employees' business
travel. The energy use and associated greenhouse gas (GHG), emissions by the Group's
operations.in the UK during the financial year ending 30 September 2022 are outlined below,
as well as our key intensity KPI, emissions per average headcount. We anticipate that as our
reporting undergoes continuous improvement and actual data sources.increase, this figure will -
become more accurate. The increase compared to prior year reflects the increased activities
of the Group following growth and the end of lockdown and CO\/ID_resfnchons _

2022 - 2021
Energy consumpﬁoh used to calculate emissions (kWh) 56,031,550 ' 48,857,400
‘Total Gross Emissions {tonnes CO2e) : . © 19,510 18,651

Intensity Ratio {tonnes CO2e/average FTE) - ' ) ’ 7.50 - 7.49

Mefhodology

Emissions are reported in terms of the metric tonne of carbon ledee equivalent (tfonnes
"CO2e], using the conversion factors as taken from the 2022 UK Government GHG,ConverS|on
Factors for UK based organisations. .

Achvny data covers thefinancial control boundory of reporting. Actual and assumed data for:

.electricity usage at our fixed sites, offices and mobile units was provided, as well as gas and
fuel usage for our generators .and transport units. These were each multiplied by the
appropriate kWh metric to calculate their associated GHG emissions. .The ‘Group has. ‘
calculated mfensﬂy ratio based on fhe number of full- hme employees overoged over the '
reporting year.

Approved by the Boord ond signed on its beholf by:

R J Bradford D

Director.
28 June 2023
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their repor'r and audited cohsolidoted Financial Statements of InHealth
Group Holdlngs PLC for the year ended 30 September 2022.

Principal activity

The principal activity of the Compdny is as a holding company for fhe Group The principal
activities of the Group are set out in the Strategic Report. .

Proposed dwrdend
The Directors do not recommend the pdymenf of a leldend (2021: &nil).
Directors

The Directors who held offlce dunng the year, and up to the ddte of approval of the Frndncuol
Statements, were as follows: 4

| H Bradbury

R J Bradford

. D M Petrie (resigned 7 February 2022)
"~ § JScott (appointed 7 February 2022)

_ Political donations
The Group made no’politicol donations (2021: £nil).
Employees

The Group's people are key to its success in both delivering existing business and winning new

contracts. Investment in people and in building the right working environment will continue to

be a priority. As outlined in the ‘Collieagues’ section of the $172 Statement in the Strategic

Report, the Board has provided employees with information on matters of concern to them,

consulted employees on a regular basis so views are considered when making decisions, and

encouraged employee feedback and engagement. The Group employs 3,175 highly skilled -
and frained professionals, ‘as at 30 September 2022, with many years of expenence working

within the health sector.

The Board remains grateful for the contribu'ﬁons made by all individuals.
Employee Involvemenf

The Group's policy lS to consult with employees on matters likely to dffect the employees’
interests. Information on matters of concern to employees is given through information bulletins,
forums and reports, which seek to achieve a common awareness on the pdrf of all employees
of the financial and economic factors affecting ’rhe Group's. performonce

Employment of disabled people

It is the Group's policy that drsobled people are given the same consideration as other
applicants for all job vacancies for which they offer themselves as suitable candidates.
Similarly, the Group's policy is to continue to employ and train employees who have become
disabled wherever possnble

Every effort has been made to ensure thdf line managers fully unders’rdnd that disabled people
must have the prospects and promotional opportunities that are available to other employees.
The Group makes dppropndte modlflcohon to procedures and equrpment where it is practical
and safe to do so.
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- Directors’ Report (continued)
‘Financial risk management

During the year the Group's operations exposed it to certain financial risks such as foreign

currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, investment risk, political risk and economic

risk as déescribed below. The Group has a risk-management programme that seeks to limit the

adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group by monitoring Ievels of cash and
ontrollmg forelgn currency tronsochons .

Fore:gn currency risk :

The Group's transactions are predomlnonfly in S'ferlmg but some transactions are in other
currencies and the Group is therefore exposed to the movementin foreign currency exchange -
rates. The risk is considered low due to fhe volume and value of transactions that occur.

Credit risk

The Group's principal financial ossefs are cash and cash equivdlents and ’rrode recelvobles,
which represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk-in relation to financial assets. The
Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade debtors. The Directors provide robust
guidelines to minimise credit risk however, given the nature of its customers, the Group does
not have significant exposure in this area.

‘Liquidity risk

The Group's policy has been to ensure continuity of funding for operations via additional credit
facilities to aid short-term flexibility. The Group has a strong cash position, has cash generation
ability and maintains overdraft facilities (that are not drawn upon} to ensure that obligations
associated with the financial liabilities of any subsidiary can be met. The Directors are satisfied
that the Group can meet the obligations associated with |Ts financial Ilob|lmes and believe
there is no material risk of the Group not being able to do so. : ‘

Interest rate risk

The interest rates on the Group's borrowings are at market rates. The Group s policy is to keep
its borrowings within defined limits such that the risk that could arise from a significant change
in interest rates would not have a material impact on cash flows. The Directors monitor the
overall level of cash, borrowings and interest cost- to limit any adverse effect on financial
performance of the Group overall. '

‘Investment risk

InHealth Ventures Limited, a d|rec1 subsidiary, mokes early-stage d|g|tcl health investments in
unlisted early stage companies, which means that the results of the Group are exposed to
investment risks, where performance can increase or decrease. The Directors are satisfied that
these minority stake investments do not expose the Group to any material risk. The investment
risk is managed ’rhrough a formalised investment committee and signed off by the Board.

Research and Development ochvuhes

Due to the conhnuol need for high standards of care in healthcare, the Group have undergone
developmental activities for the benefits and satisfaction of patients-in both acute and primary
~ care settings. The Group has expanded developments into enhancements in mobile sites as
‘well as digital infrastructure for automations and utilisation. of future functionalities Thoi require
artificial intelligence.

Future developments ,

An indication of likely future"developments in the business have been included in the Strategic
Report. The particulars of significant events which have occurred since the end of the financial
year have been included below. '

Events after the Balance Sheet dote :

On 13 April 2023, TAC Healthcare Limited ocduired a 90% 'stake in International SOS (Medical
Services) UK Limited. The company's principal activity is the provision of medical services
offshore and onshore to a variety of sectors including Oil and Gos

E : : 10
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~ Directors’ Report (continued)
_Disclosure of |nformahon to auditor

The Directors who held office at-the date of cpprovol of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so
far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is
unaware; and the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors
. to make themselves aware of any relevant audit mformohon and to establish thcn‘ the
Company's auditor is aware of that information. .

Independent Audltors

KPMG LLP resigned aqs auditors of the Company on 23 October 2022 and confirmed in
accordance with section 509 of the Companies Act 2006 that there were no circumstances
which should be brought to the attention of the Company’s shareholders or creditors. The
Company accepted their resignation. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have been appointed -
auditors of the -Company in accordance with section 485 of the Companies Act 2006. The
auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers'LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office
and pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, they will be deemed to be
" reappointed and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will therefore continue in office.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

RJ Brad(ord
Director
28 June 2023
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InHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 September 2022

: Independent dudliors report to the members of InHedIth Group
‘Holdings PLC

‘Report on the audit of the financial statements .
. Opinion '

In our opinion, InHealth Group Holdlngs PLC’s Group financial sTo’remenTs and Company.

financial statements (the “financial statements”):

e give a true and fair view of fhe state of the Group’s and of the Compony s dffcurs as at
30 September 2022 and of the Group ] profl'r ond the Group’s cash ﬂows for the yedr then
ended;

-+ have been properly prepared in occordonce with Unn‘ed Kingdom Generolly Accepfed

"Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounhng Standards, including FRS 101 "Reduced
Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and
e have been prepared in accordance with the requw_emen’rs of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial
Statements (the “Annual Report”), which comprise: Consolidated Balance Sheet and
. Company Balance Sheet as at 30 September 2022; Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss
and Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Company

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial -

4' _statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.
Basis for opinion o ’

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs

-(UK)"y and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 1SAs (UK) are further described in.the -

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to prowde a’

- basis for our opinion.
Independence '

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfiled our other ethical responSIbllmes in accordance with these
requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified. ony material uncen‘onnhes
relating to events or c:ondn‘lons that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on
the Group's and the Company‘s ability fo continue as a going concern for a penod of at least
twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the. going
~concern basis of occounhng in the preparation of the financial statements i is appropriate.

However, because noT all future events or conditions can be predscfed ’rhls conclusion is not
a guoron‘ree as to the Group s and the Compony s ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the respons:bnmes of the dlrecTors with respect to going concern are
described in the relevant sections of this report. . :



InHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Independent audltors report to ihe members of InHeoIfh Group
- Holdings PLC (continued) '

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the

- financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other
information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except fo the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon. :

In connection with our audit of the financial statemenits, our responsibility is to read the other
information and. in doing so, consider whether the 'other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether thereis a mateérial
misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have no’rhlng to report based
on these responsubllmes

With respect to the Strategic Report and Dlrecfors Report, we olso considered whe’rher the
disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been mcluded

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requwes us
also to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

Stroteglc Report and Directors' Report .

In our.opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given

" inthe Strategic Report and Directors' Reporf for the year ended 30 September 2022 is consistent

with the financial statements and has been prepored in accordance with oppllcoble legal.

requirements.

In light- of the knowledge and undersfondihg of The Group and Company and their
. environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify any mo’renol ’

misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors' Report.
Responsibilities for.the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements - '

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in respect of the Strategic
Report, Directors' Report and the Financial Statements, the directors are responsible for the
"preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for
' being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial

" statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
and the Company’s ability o' continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors

either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operohons or have no redlistic

oITerno’nve but to do so.

14



InHeoITh Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial S’rofemem‘s .
For the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Independent auditors’ report to the members. of InHealth Group
Holdings PLC (continued)

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or errcr, and to issue an
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable dssurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect
* a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

-Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We
design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures
are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the Group. and industry, we identified that the principal risks of
- non-compliance with laws and regulations related to the Companies Act 2006 and Corporate
Tax Legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material
_effect on the financial statements. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities
for fraudulent manipulation of.the financial statements (including the risk of override of
" controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate
accounting .entries to manipulate financial results, specifically revenue and EBITDA Audn‘
procedures performed by the engagement team included:

¢ Held discussions with monogement including consideration of known or suspected -

instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and/or fraud;

+ Evaluated the design effectiveness of management's control activities designed to prevent
and detect iregularities of management’s controls desngned o prevenf and detfect
iregularities;

« Reviewed meeting minutes of the board of directors for consrderohon of known or
suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and/or fraud; g

¢ .Challenged assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant
accounting estimates and material judgemenfs in pcmcular in relation to the valuation of
goodwill.and unlisted investments;

* Evaluated whether there was evidence of monogemen'r bias that represented Q risk of
material misstatement due to fraud and assessed the rationale for significant confroc’rs and
transactions entered:; :

e Identified and tested journal entries based on our risk assessment;

« Reviewed the disclosures in the-Annual Report against the specific legal requwemenfs and

¢ Incorporated elemenfs of unpredlcfobuh’ry info our audit procedures.

There are. inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above: We are less likely to

become aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely ‘

related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not
defecting a material mlss’rcn‘emern‘ due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting-one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve déliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or
intentional misrepresentations, ‘or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on
the FRC's website af: www.frc.org. uk/oudltorsresponmbllmes This description forms port of our

oudlfors report.

- 15



_ InHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 September 2022 .

.Independent auditors’ report to the members of InHeaIth Group
Holdings PLC (conf/nued)

Use of this report

- This repon‘ including the opinions, has been prepared forand only-for the Company’s members

as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no
other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any

other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or info whose hands it may -

come save where expressly agreed by our pnor consent i in wrmng

Other requued repomng
Companles Act 2006 excephon reporting .
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our oplnlon

e we have not obtained ail the information and explanations we requwe for our audit; or

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or retumns adequate
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

"~ o the Company financial statements are not in ogreemen’r with The cuccounhng records and

returns.

We have no e'xcepﬂons’- to report drising from this responsibility.
Alex Upton (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewatgrhouSeCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and S'fofufory. Auditors

Watford
- 30 June 2023 .
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InHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements
~ for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Comprehenswe Income

For the year ended 30 Sepfember 2022

Revenue

Costof sales ' \

Gross profit

Adminisfrgtive expenses -

Operating profit
" Gain on sale of discontinued dperoﬁon

Financialincome
Financidl expenses

Net financing (expense)

Pfofif before tax
Taxation

Profit for the year from continuing operbiions
Profit for the year from discontinued operation, net of
tax o

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive iﬁcome/(loss)
Ifems 1hct WI|| not be reclassified to profit or loss:

‘Re- meosuremenf of defined benefn I|cb|||1y

Gains on remeasuring financial assets .

Income tax on items that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss : '

Other comprehensive incomé for the year -

Total comprehensive income for. thé yeor'

Comprehensnve income/(loss) uﬂnbuiable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interest

Note .

5

21
12
9

. 2022 2021
£000 £000
253,761 217,959
(162,537) (139,992).
91,224 77.967-
(76,938) . (73.520)
14,286 4,447
. 2,956
- 294 203 -
(1,172) (990)
(878) (787)
13,408 6,616
(1,332) 273
12,076 6,889 .
. 669
12,076 7.558
844 103
3,359 1,848 .-
(1,036) (555)
3167 - . 1,39
115,243 8,954
15,994 8,814
140

(751)

The accompanying notes onpoges 2110 51 form part of these Fincnti'c:l Statements.
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InHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements
for.the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Consolidated Balance Sh_eet

At 30 September 2022 v
' ‘Note . 12022 2021
£000 ~£000
Non-current assets : - . ‘ y
Property, plant & equipment 10 130,631 108,590
Intangible assets ‘ -1 - 4977 22,093
Other financial assets . . 13- 26,331 : © 19,474
Trade and other receivables . - 16 _ 4,597 3.126
. _ 210,736 153,283
Current assets - , ' o ' : .
invenfories : . ' 15 1,086 783 |
. Contract assets : S 1,965 2,202
‘Trade and other receivables 16 50,297 32,196
Cash and cash equivalents . . : 32,580 T 47,194
85,928 82,375
Total assets . . : 296,664 ‘ 235,658
Current liabilities- o
Trade and other payables IZ (93.412) © (81,238)
(93.412) ' (81,238)
" Non-current liabilities
‘Employee benefits . : 21 . - (896}
.. Deferred tax liability . N (5.514) (1,102)
" Provisions ) 18 (8217) - (8.349)
Trade and other payables . 19 (25,600) (13:815)
(39,331) (24,162)
Total liabilities : ) . . (132,743) (105,400)
Net assets : . S 163921 130,258
Equity attributable to equity holders . . _ ‘
Share capital - o . 22 - 1,309 1,309 °
Share premium S 22 96,740 96,740
Otherreserves =~ 22 (2,100) ’ (2,100)
Retained earnings : ) 49,762 33,768
RO CooasTVT ATV
N'on-c'onfrolling interest ‘ . ' 18,210 o 541

Total equity . ' ' . 163921 . 130,258



InHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Repoit and Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Consolidated Balance Sheet (chnﬁnue‘d) -

These Financial Statements were opproved by fhe Board of Directors on 28 June 2023 and were
signed on |’rs behalf by .

R J Bradford
Director
_Compony reg|sfrohon number: 05578428

The occombonying notes on pages 21-to 51 form part of these Financial Statements.



InHealth Group Holdings PLC .

Annudl Report and Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 September .2022

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 September 2022 o

At 1 October 2020

Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year -

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year

Changes in ownership interests |

Growth share plan seﬁlerhenj

Reserves ,disiribut'ed on disposal of Subsidior.y :

. Acquisition of additional shares in subsidiary -

undertakings
Total chonges in ownership interests for the

year

At 30 September 2021 and 1 October 2021

Comprehensive income-for the year
Profit/(loss) for the year I

. Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year

Changes in ownership interests

Business combination

At 30 September 2022 .

Non-

, Total

Share Share Other Retained parent controlling Total

~ capital premium reserves earnings equity interest ~ equity

£000 ~ £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
1,309 96,740 (1,404) 31,466 128,111, 328 128,439

- - - 7418 7418 140 7.558

- - - 1396 1,396 - 1396

_ - - 8814 8814 140 8954

; ; - (7.208) . (7.208) - (7.208)

: - (696) 696 - S

; g - - - 73 73

- - (696) (6.512) (7.208) 73 .('7,135)

1,309 96,740  (2,100) 33,768 129,717 541 130,258
- - - 12,827 12,827 (751) 12,076 -

- - - 3,167 3,167 - 3167

- - - 15,994 15994, (751) 15243

- - - - - 18,420 18,420

1,309 96,740 (2100) 49,762 145711 18210 163,921

The accompanying notes on pages 21 to 51 form part of these Financial Statements,
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InHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements - Group
(forming part of the Financial Statements)

1 Accounting policies

InHealth GroUp Holdings -PLC (the “Company”) is a Company incorporated, domiciled and
registered in England, United Kingdom. The registered number is 05578428 ‘and the registered
address is Beechwood Hall, Kingsmead Road, High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP11 1JL.

The Group Financial Statements consolidate those of the Company: and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “"Group”). The parent Company Financial Statements present
information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its Group. The Group and
Company Financial Statements have ‘been prepared and approved by the Directors ‘in -
accordance with FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework'. As a ‘result, the Group and
Company apply the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements per UK-adopted
international accounting standards (“Adopted IFRSs”) but makes amendments where
necessary in order to comply with the requirements- of the Componles Act 2006. The
accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to
all periods presented in these Group Financial Statements. In these Financial' Statements, the
Group has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respecf of the followmg
disclosures: .

- 1AS 1 ‘Presen'fc’rion of Financial Statements’: Exemption from providing 'comporotivé
movement schedules for share capital, ‘intangible assets, and property, plant and equipment.

-1AS 1 *Presentation of Financial Statements': Exemption from presenting a statement of cash
flows, from making an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS standards
and from the capital management disclosure requirements of the standard:

-1AS 7 ‘Cash Flow Statement': Complete exemption from prepdring a cash flow sfotement and
the related notes. '

- 1AS 8 *Accounting Policies, Chonges in Accounting Eshmofes and Errors': Exemption from the
disclosure of new or revised IFRSs that hove not been amended, as well as the disclosure of
their likely impact.

- -1AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures': Dlsclosure exemption for related porty transactions entered
into between two or more members of a group provided that any sub5|d|c:ry which is a party
ot the transaction is wholly owned by such a member.

- IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’: Exemption from disclosure of éqmpenscﬁon for key
management personnel.

- 1AS _36"Impoirmenf of Assets’: Available exemptions from disclosures at the cash generating-
unit level, including as it pertains to assumptions and sensitivity onolysis.

- IFRS 2 ‘ShcrelBosed Payments': Exempfion relating to group-settled share based payments.

- IFRS 3 'Business Combihoﬁons Exemption from disclosure requirements of paragraphs 62,
Bé4(d), Bé4(e) Bé4(g). Bé4(h) Bé4(j) to 864(m) 864(n)(||) Bé4(0)(ii), B&4(p). Bé4(q)(u) Bé6 and
Bé&7. :

- IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments’: Complete exemption of the dlsclosures mondcn‘ed by the
" standard, other than where required o comply with legal requwemen’rs

- IFRS, 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’: Complete exemption of the disclosures mondofed by the
standard, other than where required to comply with legal requirements. '

- IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’: Partial exembﬁon from the new disclosgré
requirements set out by the standard. . - -

Taking up these disclosure exemptions is made possible by fhé inclusion of equivalent
disclosures within the consolidated Financial Statements of InHealth UK Holdings Limited, the
largest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated.

. ' . ' 21



InHealth Group Holdings PLC -
Annual Report and Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements - Group (continued)
1 Accounting policies (continued)
1.1 Measurement convention

The Fihancial Statements are prepcred in occordonce with applicable accounting standards
ond under the historical cost basis.

1.2 © Going concem

The Group’s busmess activities, together with the. factors likely to affect its future- development
and position, are set out in the S'rrcneg|c Report on' page 2.

"The Fmoncml Statements have been prepared on a going concern bc15|s which the D|rectors '
conS|der to be appropriate for the followung reasons.

The Directors have assessed their prepared Group and Company cash flow forecasts for a
period of 12 months from the date of approval of these Financial Statements. This includes
assumptions over the certainty of cash flows and includes the impact of reduced activity levels. -
These forecasts indicate that, even when considering a severe -but plausible downside, the
Group and Company will continue to have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as they fall due.
The.Group continues to be engaged in positive discussions and considers the medium-term
outlook to be strong due to the opportunity to support the NHS in addressing the bocklog of
diagnostic and screening tests.

After taking into consideration the Group and Compony s positive net asset position, absence
of debt and availability of cash as well as the current economic environment, the Directors
have a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company have adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future (at least 12 months after the
approval. of these Financial Statements). Consequently, the Directors are confident that the
Group and Company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due
for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the Financial Statements and therefore
have prepared the Financial Statements on a going concern basis. .

" 1.3 -Basis of consolidation
Subsidioriés ' 4

' Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity whenit is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. In assessing control, the Group takes into
consideration -potential voting rights that are currently exercisable. The acquisition date is the
date on which controlis transferred to the acquirer. The Financial Statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control’commences until

. the date that control ceases. Losses applicable to the non- con’rrolling interests in a subsidiary

are aliocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing so causes the non-controling
interests To have a deficit balance. -

Change in subsidiary ownership -

_Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in @ loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions. The adjustments to non-controlling interests are based
on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. Any difference between the

~ price paid or received and the amount by which non-controlling interests are od]usted is

recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the parent.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from
intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group's
interest in the investee. Unredlised losses are eliminated in the same way as unreollsed gains,
but only to the exfent that there is no evidence of |mpo|rmen'f ‘ ,
22



InHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Sfcrfements
for the Yeor Ended 30 September 2022 -

" Notes to the Fmancual Statemenis - Group {cormnuecl)
1 Accountmg policies (continued)
1.4 Forelgn currency

“Transactions in foreign currencies are ‘translated to the functional currency of Group entmes at
the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional
currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at'that date. Foreign exchange differences arising
on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non-monetary-assets and liabilities that
are measured-in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange

- rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreugn
exchange rates ruling o’r the dotes the fair vciue was determined.

1.5 Financial mstrumenis
i) Recognition and initial measurement .

" The Group's main fannCIO| msfrumen’rs comprise: cash and cash equrvolen'fs trade ond ofher ]
receivables; other financial assets; and trade crnd other payables.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are mr'ncrlly recognised at fair volue in the Group S
balance sheet-on the date when the Group becomes party to the con’rrcctucl provisions of
the instrument. : .

Transaction costs that are directly ot’mbutoble to the acquisition orissue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at Fair Value through Profit
" and Loss (“FVPL") are added to or deducted from the fair valde of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
- to the ocqursmon of financial assets or flnoncrcrl liabilities at FVPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

ii) Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets is driven by the business model
for managing the financial osse’rs and the contractual cash row characteristics of those
financial assets. :

Fincnciol assets are-sybsequently measured 01. amortised cost, using the effective interest
method, and adjusted for any credit loss allowance, as they are held solely for the collection
and payment of contractual ‘cash flows, being payments of principal and interest where
applicable. The effect of discounting on trade and other receivables is not considered to be
material. The amortised cost-is reduced by impairment.losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profl’r or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

* On initial recognition of an equity ‘investment that is not held for'trading, the Group may
irevocably elect to present subsequent changes in.the investment's fair value in. Other -

" . Comprehensive Income {*OCI"). This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in
profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Other net gorns and |osses are recognlsed in OCland are never reclcssmed to profit
or loss.

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposﬁs.
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1 " Accounting policies (continued)

15 Financial instruments

i) Cléssification and subsequent measurement (continued) ‘

Financial liabilifies’ |

Trade ond other payables are subsequently measured at c:mbrﬁsed cost with any interest cést
calculatedin accordance with the effective interest rate method. Interest expense and foreign

exchange gains and losses are recognlsed in profn or. Ioss Any gonn or loss on derecognition is
also recognused in profl'r or loss.

iii) Impairment .

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL") on financial assets
meosured at amortised cost and confroc’r assets (c:s definedin IFRS 15).

The Group measures loss allowances at an omounf equal to Ilfehme ECL, except for o’rher debt
securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life of the financial instrument) has not mcreosed S|gn|f|canﬂy since initial recognition,
which are measured as 12-month ECL.

Loss allowances for trade recelvobles and confroc'r assets are olwoys measured of an omounf
* equal to lifetime ECL. ' .

When determining whether the credit risk of a fino}nciql asset has increased significantly since
" initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both -
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical
experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

" The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pdy its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such asrealising
- security (if any is held). :

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default evenffs over the expected life of
a financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). The maximum period considered when
es'ﬂmohng ECLs is the maximum controc’ruol period over WhICh the Group is-exposed to credit
risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). ECLs
. are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Cred:f-lmpcured financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost
are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit- lmpcured’ when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Write-offs

The gross carrying dmount ofa .finOncic| asset is written off (eifhér partially or in full) to the extent -
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
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1 Accounting policies (continued) '
1.6  Property, plant and equipment.

Proberty, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
‘accumulated impairment losses. Cost is defined as all costs necessary to brlng the asset to
working condition for its infended use.

" Where parts of an item of properfy plant and equipment have d|fferent useful lives, 1hey are
- accounted for as separate items of property, plon’r cnd equupment

Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of each part of an item of property, plant and.equipment. Land and assets under
construction dre not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Freehold property 50 years straight line

Short term leasehold improvements . Over the term of the lease
Plant and machinery . . 410 10 years straight line
Fixtures and fittings . 3to 6 years straight line
Motor vehicles » 2 to é years straight line

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet
date. ' ‘ | ‘

1.7 Business combinations

Business combinations.are accounted for using the  acquisition method as at the acquisition
date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
» the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
« therecognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
* the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less
"e the netrecognised amount (generally fair value) of the |denf|f|ob|e assets acquired and
liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchose gcun is recognised ummed|otely in profit or
loss.

Costs related to the ocqwsu’non other ihon those ossocnofed with the issue of debt or equity
securities, are expensed as incurred. .

* Any contingent consideration poyoble is recognised at fair value at the ocqunsmon date. If the
contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is
accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration are recognlsed in profit or loss.

On a transaction- by-transaction basis, the Group elects to measure non- controlllng interests,
which have both present ownership interests and are entitled to a proportionate share of net
assets of the acquiree in the event of liquidation, either at its fair value or at its proportionate
interest in the recognised amount of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree at the
acquisition date. All other non- con'rrolllng interests .are measured at their fair value at the
acquisition date.
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1 Accounting policies (continued).
1.8 Intangible assets and goodwill
Goodwill

Goodbwill is stated at cost less ony' accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to
_cash-generating units and is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment. '

‘The carrying value of each CGU is comp‘ded to its recoverable -amount, determined as the

higher of fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. Where a reliable ‘estimate of the

fair value less costs of disposal is available and is higher than the corrylng amount of the assét,
the asset is not impaired and then no value in use is calculated.

For the purposes of goedwill impairment testing each CGU has been reviewed seporotely This
represents the lowest level at which goodwnl is monlfored by the Group and reflects its busmess
model.

Intangible assets

Other intangible assets acquired and licences pur.éhosed by the Groub are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Customer contracts are acquired through busmess combinations.

'Expendlfure on research activities is recogmsed in the income sfotement Qs an expense as
incurred. Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product ‘or process is

technically and commercially feasible and the Group intends to and has the technical ability = -

.and sufficient resources to complete development, future economic benefits are probable
and if the Group can measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development. Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of
- new or substantially improved products or processes. Capitalised development expenditure is
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and less accumulated impairment losses. «

Amortisation

Amortisation is charged to the profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives-of intangible assets. Other intangible assets are amortised from the date 'rhey are ovoulcble
for use. The esflmoted useful I|ves are as follows:

Licence and software costs : 1 to 3 years straight line
‘Customer contracts . Over the contract life
_Development costs : ' 5to 10 years straight line
Other intangibles (mcludlng pc:'ren’fs c:nd mfellectuol property) 10 years straight line
Brands : 5 years straight line
1.9 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is based.on the
weighted average principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, .
" and other costs in bringing them to their existing location and condition. -
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1.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying-amounts of the Group's non- fnnoncml assets other than inventories and deferred
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. .
For goodwnll and intangibie assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available
for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

The recoverable amount of an asset or 'cash-generating unit is the ‘greater of its value in use
" “and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that.reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of
impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).

The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is
“allocated to cash-generating units, or ("CGU"}. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test,
for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated
are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business
combination is.allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

Animpairment loss in respect of goodwill'is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment
losses recognised .in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that
the loss has.decredsed or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or omorhscnon if no
impairment loss had been recognlsed - .

1.11  Employee benefits
Defined confribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to
pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are
recognised as an expense in the income statement in the periods during WhICh services are
rendered by employees.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution
plan. The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is caiculated by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service
in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and
the fair value of any plan dssets (at bid price} are deducted. The Group determines the net
interest on the net defined benefit liability or asset for the period by applying the discount rate
.used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the onnucl period to the
net deflned benefit liability or asset.

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on bonds that have a credit rating of at least
AA that have maturity dates approximating to the terms of the Group's obligations and that
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid.
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1 Accounting policies (conﬁnued)

. l‘.ll»- Employee benefits (conhnued} 4
Defined benefit plans (cont:nued}

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans comprise actuarial gains and losses, the
" return on plan assets and the effect of the asset ceiling. The Group recognises them
immediately in other comprehensive income and all other eéxpenses related To deflned benefit
plans in employee benefit expenses in profit or foss.

- The colcuiohonof the defined benefit obllgohons is performed by a qualified actuary using the
projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the
recognised asset-is limited to the present value of benefits available in the form of any future
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions and takes into account the adverse
effect of any minimum fundmg requirements.

The Group recognlses gains and losses-on the seﬁlement of a defined benefit plan when.the
settlement occurs. The gain or loss on a settlement is the difference between the present value -
of the defined benefit obligation being settled as determined on the date of settlement and
the settlement price, including any plan assets transferred and any payments made dlrecﬂy
by the Group in connection wuth the settlement.

Share-based payment fransactions

Members of the Group grant awards to GroUp employees that can be either cash or ‘equity:
settled. Where the entity has a choice of settlement by way of equity or cash the arrangement
- is expected to be treated as cash settled or equity settled depending upon whether the entity
. has a present obligation to settle in cash. ‘

Where the Group assesses a modification to the probable outcome, the Group accounts for

any changes in fair value after the modification date under the revised method of settlement.

Any change in fair value that occurred prior to the modification date is accounted for under

the original method of setflement. For payments made to Group employees on cancellation

or settlement of the gront awards this is deducted from equity, up to the fair value of the awards

at the date of repurchase, and accounted for through the Retained Earnings reserve in equny
- with the amount of any excess treated as an expense.

1.12 Prowsnons

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, which can be réliably measured and it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required o settle the obligation.
-Provisions are determined by dlscounhng the expected future cosh flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects risks specific to the liability.

1.13  Revenue

Revenue, which is measured as the fair value of consideration received for the activity
performed, represents the amounts invoiced for the provision of dlognoshc services rand
healthcare solutions (excluding value added tax). :

Revenue is recognised on the basis of the 5—s’rep model under IFRS 15, which sets out the rules
for revenue from contracts with customers based on the satisfaction of performance
obligations. Monogement has undertaken a detailed ossessmen'r of all revenue streams usung
the 5- s'rep approach specified by IFRS 15:

Identify the contract(s) with the customer _
- |dentify the performance obligations in the contract .
- - Determine the transaction price through contracted agreed price -
~ - Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
- Recognise revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied
‘ : 28
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1 ' Accouriﬁngﬁ policies (continued)
1.13 'Revenve (conﬁnued} .

The Group does not expect to' have any contracts where the peﬁod between the transfer of
the promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one
‘year. As a consequence 1he Group does not adjust any transaction prices for the time value
of money.

Rendering of services

Revenue from providing services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services
are rendered and when performance obligations are satisfied. The Group fypicclly satisfies its
performance obligations as services are rendered on a “per procedure"” or “per day" basis, -
depending upon the terms of the contract. Revenue is recognised when a contract with
enforceable rights and obligations exists and the receipt of consideration s likely, taking into
account the customer’s credit quality. Payment terms are 1yplcolly 30 days with no significant
financing component or vcnoble consideration. :

" Contract assets

Contract asséts represent the right to consideration in exchange for goods that have been.
transferred to the customer. Costs to obtain contracts with customers are amortised on a
systematic basis consistent with the pattern of transfer of services being when the related
revenues are recognised.

In case of fixed-price contracts, the customer pays the fixed amount based 6n a payment
schedule. If the services rendered by the Group exceeds the payment, accrued income is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered, deferred income is recognised.
1.4 Leases !
At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. -

The Group does not currently have any lease lessor arrangements.
-The Group as a lessee '

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset.and a corresponding liability with respect to all lease
agreements in which.it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises
the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. -

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise flxed lease
payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less dny lease incentives.

" The lease liability-is included in Curren'f and Non-current Ilobllmes on the Balance Sheef

- The lease liability is subsequently meosured by.increasing ihe carrying amount to reflect mferest

on the lease liability (using the effective mteres’r method) cnd by reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease poyments made. :

~ The Group remeasures the Ieose Iloblll’ry (and mokes a corresponding adjustment to the reloted :
" right-of-use asset) whenever thie lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeosured by dlscounflng

the revised discount rate.
v
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1.14 Leases (confinued)

- The G’ro.up as a lessee (continued)

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability,
‘lease payments made at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They
are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right- -of-use ossets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease ferm and useful life of the -

underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-
of-use asset reflects that the GroUp expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The deprecmhon starts at
the commencement dcie of the lease. ‘

The right- of-use assets cre included in the .‘Property, plant and equmeni in the . Bolonce
Sheet. .

The Group applies IAS 36 to de’rermune whether a right-of-use asset is |mp<:ured and accounts
for any identified impairment loss as described in note 1.5.

1.15  Finance income . 4
interest income'is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.
1.16  Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Taxi is recognised in fhe
income statement except to the extent that jt relates To items recognised directly in equity, in
which case it is recognised in equity. '

Current-tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or.loss for the
year, using tax rates enacted or-substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The
following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a
business combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that
they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is
based on the expected manner of redlisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is preboble that future taxable profits
will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

1.17  Discontinued operation

This accounting policy specifically relates to the prior year, no such transactions have been
recorded in the current year. .

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's business that represents a separate
maijor line of business or geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is held
for sale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation
meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a
discontinued operation, the comparative profit and loss account is restated as if the operation
has been dlscon’unued from the start of the comparative penod
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2 Slgnlflcant accounting estimates and judgements

AThe preparation of the consolidated Financial Statements requires monogemeni to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions in the application of accounting policies that affect
reporfed amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses during the year.

Monogement periodically evaluates its estimates and judgements: and bases them on -

‘historical experience and other factors that are believed. to be reasonable under the
- circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgements about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are notreadily available from other resources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. The estimates and assumptions that have the most significant
effect on the amount recogmsed in the FlnonC|ol Statements.are discussed- below

Impcurmenf of goodw:ll

* The Group annudlly tests whether all goodwill has been impaired. The recoveroble omounf of

. the groups of CGUs calculations require assumptions to be made regarding projected cash

" flows and the choice of appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the valUe-in-use of

those cash flows. These are d|sclosed in note' 12 and actual outcomes could vory from
estimates.

Valuation of unlisted investments

The Group holds a number of unlisted investments which are held ot fair value. Their fair value
is assessed based on the Icnfest round of mves’rment fundlng and with reference to the current .
market condmons - .
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3 Busuness combinations (continued)

On 30 June 2022 the Group completed a new. partnership with C7 Health. TAC Healthcare
Limited, the new organisation is now part of the Group as a majority-owned subsidiary of .
InHealth Limited. It comprises the services that sit within C7 Health (Diagnestic World, TAC
Healthcare and-Private GP Services), and combines them with some of InHealth's services -
Endoscopy, Pathology. Ultrasound, Physiological Measurements and Echocardiography.

On 30 June 2022, InHealth Limited acquired 78.5% of the Ordinary shares in TAC Healthcare

. Limited and its subsidiaries. In the 3 months to 30 Septembeér 2022 the TAC ‘Healthcare Group
contributed £7.6 million of consolidated revenue and a trading net loss of £109,000 to the '
consolldoted net profit.

Effect of ocqu:smon _
The acquisition had the following effect on the Group s assets and liabilities:

Acqu.lree s - . )
net assets at . ) Recognised
acquisition Fair valve * values on
date adjustments acquisition
: £000 - £000 - © £000
" Goodwill ~ ' : © 177 - -1a77
Infonglble asset — customer confrccfs N . - 4,833 4,833
Intangible asset - brands ‘ ‘ - 1,406, : 1,406
Property, plant and equipment ‘ 2,998 : - N © 2,998
Trade and other receivables - 8516 - - 8.516
Cash and cash equivalents 24,550 - 24,550
Trade and other poyobles due within one . (9.486) - . (9.486)
year . B o ' '

Deferred-tox liability - C ) - (1.560) (1.560)
Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries . . (148) . - (148)
Net identifiable. assets L . 32,286
Non controlling mferest in prevnously wholly owned parent enfmes provnded as . 6,688

consideration -
Non controlling interest i in ocquwed componles issued : . . 11,255
Cash price paid o - : " 34,357
Total consideration ' o : S 52,300

 Goodwill © . - ' S 20014

GoodMlI arising on the ocqwsmon is attributable to the expected synergistic benefifs and the
anticipated growth of the market. The Group has used the fcur value method in measuring the
intangibles ldenhfled .

‘lnHeoh‘h Limited-incurred acquisition related costs of £1,036, OOO related to professional services.

The.cost has been included in administrative expenses in the consolldofed statement of profn
and Ioss and comprehensnve income.
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4 ' Discontinued operahon (conﬁnued}

on 23 December 2020, the Group sold its Pain Mcnogemenf Services division. Management
was committed to a plan to sell in September 2020 and as such the reloted ossets and liabilities
were classified as held for sale at 30 September 2020.

The division was sold for £14.0m cash and a pre-tax gain of £3.0m was recorded in 2021.

The divisional results have been recorded as ‘Discontinued operation’ within the Consolidated
Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

(A) Results of discontinued operation

2022 2021

£000 £000
Revenue ' s - ‘ - 2,958
Cost of sales - . h : - (1.283)
Administrative expenses L . . - - (889)
Operating profit ‘ SRR . 786
Financial expenses : ' ' : - -
Profit from discontinued operation - . o - 786"
Taxation ' ' ‘ ‘ . . 4 - (117)
Profit for the yeaf from discontinued operation, net of tax ' - 669
Gain recognised on disposal of disposal.group - : : - 12,956
Profit for the year © o , o - o - 3625
(B) Cash flows used in discontinued operation ‘

2022 2021

£000 £000
Net cash used in operating activities , : - . [(1,575)
Net cash flows for the year C , : - (1,575)
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5§  Revenue

ARevenue oII -arises from the’ Group's principal cchvmes In fhe followmg table revenue is

dlscggregoted by primary geogrophlcol market:-

United Kingdom
Europe :

Costs to obtain contracts with customers l
At 1. October 2021 and 30 September 2022

Amortisation
At 1 October 2021 )
.Amortisation for the year

At 30 September 2022 -

N'ef book value -
At 30 September 2021 .

At 30 September 2022

2022

2021

- £000 £000
253,323 217,817
438 142
253,761 217,959
Conlract assets

£000

2,500

£ 298.

237

535

2,202

1,965

Contract cosfs are amortised when the related revenues are recognised. No impairment losses
have been recorded for these contract assets (2021: £nil). Revenue genero'red relating to this

com‘rocf ossef was £2,899, OOO (2021: £2, 638 OOO)

6 . Operahng ptoflt

Included in fhe operating profit are fhe followmg

Depreciation and other amounts written off tangible assets:
Owned S
Right-of-use assets
Profit on disposal of property, plant ond equ:pment
. Amortisation of intangibles - . .
Amortisation of contract assets
Impairment of tangible assets:
Owned
Right-of-use assets

N

2022 2021
£000 £000
14,386 16,483
6,667 5,342
(156) (503) -
1,273 © 1316
237 157
1,754 2,089
515 -

.34



_InHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements
. for the Year Ended 30 September 2022 ©

Notes to the Financial Statements - Group (continued)
6  Operating profit (continued) -

Auditor's remuneration:

For fhe audit of the Compony and consolldofed Financial
Statements -

For the oudlt of the Flnoncu:ﬂ Stotemenfs of all other Group
companies

Taxation compliance services -

Other tax advisory services

All other services . .

2022
~.£000

50

455 .

2021

£000
2

362

88

41
80

Amounts in 2021 were pcydbie to KPMG LLP, 'who resigned as auditors of the Company on 23
. October 2022. Amounts in 2022 were payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. .

7 Sfdff numbers and costs

The monthly average number of persons employed by the Group (lncludlng D|rectors) during.

the year, onolysed by category, was as foliows:

Operations
Administrative
Sales
Directors .

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons weré ds follows:

Continuing operations
Wages and salaries
" Social security costs
Contributions to defined contribution plans -
Contributions to defined benefit plans

Discontinued operation
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
- Contributions to deflr\ed contribution plons'

639 -

2022 2021
No. No.
Total Totor 
2,758 2,265
298 222
2 2
2 5
3060 2491
2022 2021
£000 £000
90,847 74,059
9,355 7,496
3,626 '3,328
182 230
104,010 - 85,113
- 57
. 27
. 723
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7 _ Staff numbers and costs (conhnued}

Dlrecfors remuneration is as follows:

Directors' remuneration including social security costs
Contributions to money purchase pension scheme .

2022

- £000

743

.16

759

2021
£000

887
20

907 .

The aggregate of emoluments of the highest paid Director which were paid was £518,000
{2021: £5,424,000) and pension contributions of £nil {2021: £nil) were made to a money
purchase. scheme on their behalf. During the prior year the aggregate eémoluments were
inclusive of the above group Iong -term growth share plan WhICh had accrued valye since |fs

establishment,

'8  Finance income and expense

Recognised in profit and Ioss account
' Inferesf recelvoble and similar income

Total interest receivable on financial assets
Net mferesj on net defined benefit pension plan assets’

Total financial income

Interest poyoble and similar c_hqrges‘

Total interest payable on financial liabilities
Net interest on net defined beneflf pension plan oblugohon

Total financial expenses

2022

£000

213
- 81

294

1,081

91

1172

2021 ..
£000

© 143

- 60

203

921
69

990
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9 Taxation’

Current tax (credit) /expense
Current year ‘
Group relief payable
Adjustments for prior years

Deferred tax expense/{credit) '
Crigination and reversal of timing differences . -

" Adjustments in respect of prior years

Effect of tax rate chdnge on opening bdldnce
Deferred tax expense/(credit)
Tax expense/(credit) in profit and loss .

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income

"Remeasurement of defined benefit liability expense
- Remeasurement of financial assets '

Total income tax recognised in other comprehensive income..

'Reconcili'afion of tax expense/(credit)

Profit for.the year excluding foxdfion

Using UK Corporation tax.rate ef 19% (2021 . lé%)

Income not taxable for tax purposes

Non-deductible expenses

Fixed assets ineligible for deprecncmon ‘

Adjustments in respect of prior periods -

Deferred tax not recognised

Remeasurement of deferred fax for chonges in Tox rates

Total tax expense/(credit)

2022 2021
£000 £000
315 1,852
R 5
(599) (255) -
'(284) 1,599
1117 (268)
- 499 (1,619)
. 15
1,616 - - (1.872)
1,332, (273)
(196) (26)
(840) " (529)
(1,036) (555)
2022 2021
£000. * £000
13,408 6,616
2,548 1,257
(654) (590)
139 492
(728) 230
(100) (1,874)
(279) T 23]
404 (19)
1,332 (273)
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9. Taxation ( continued] -

A change in the UK corpordtion tax rate, cnnounced in the Spring Budge'f on 3 March 2021

Group (continued|

was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. The rate applicable from 1 April 2021 remained at
19%, with the future corporation tax rate increasing to 25% from 1 April 2023. The deferred tox
liability at 30 September 2022 has been colculoted bosed on these rotes

10 Properfy plant ond eqmpment

Fixtures

Shortterm . . - Plant _
leasehold Freehold ) and and Assets under Motor
improvements property machinery fittings construction  vehicles ° Total
: £000 £000° . £000 . £000 £000 £000 £000
_Cost R : B ‘ _
At 1 October 2021 60,426 7719 159,943 18,528 14,819 5,354 266,789
Additions ' 284 - 2,672 1,128 22,891 116 27,091
Addiﬁons—right'—of—use assets - 1,905 - 18,372 T ‘ - 476 20,753
Additions - business 419 445 1902 158 - 74 2998
combinations - : " )
- Disposals . ‘ (135) - (4,760) (179) - (2,784) (7.858)
Disposals - from owned to L - - (3.925) . .- - - (3.925)
right-of-use assefs ' o : '
Transfer between classes 1,611 - 17,078 (1,299) {17,506} 116 -
Reclassification to intangible Co - - ’ - © (123} - (123)
assets
At 30 September 2022 . 64,510 8,164 191 282 . 18,336 20,'08'1 3,352 305,725
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment ) B .
- At 1 October 2021 © 34,604 . 2727 101,661 15,562 - 3,651 158,199
- Charge forihe year-owned . 2249 179 10312 1,540 - 106 14,386
Charge for. the year - right- e, o ' : )
of-use assets o 2,256 3.850 .561 . 6,667
Disposals - : (75} - (3.995) (92} - (2,265) (6.427)
Impairment — owned assets’ 429 - 1,203 114 - '8 1,754
Impairment - right-of-use . 515 - - Co- - - 515
assets
‘At 30 September 2022 . 39.978 2,900 113,031 17,124 - 2,061 175,094
Net book value v
At 30 September 2021. .o 25,822 4,998 58,282 2,966 . 14,819 1,703 108,590
At 30 September 2022 S o 24,532 .5,264 78,251 '|,2lé 20,081 - 1.291 130,631
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10 Property, ploni and equipment (conhnued}
The net book value of owned and leased asset included os “ProperTy plam and equipment"

is as follows:
2022 2021
£000 £000
Tangible fixed assets owned A 97,885 88,258
Right-of-use tangible fixed asset (note 20) -~ . . 32,744 20,332
130,631 108,590 -
11 Goodwill and Intangible assets
) /
licences
and : . : .
software  Customer’ Development Other Assets in
Goodwill costs  contracts "' costs intangibles Brands progress Total
] £000 £000 £000- ~ £000 " £000  £000 ~ £000 £000
Cost ' C . ’ )
At 1 October 2021 31,239. 3.415 . 2,380 © 1,153 296 oo- 758 39,241
. Additions - : - 604 - - - o o- - 200 804
Reclassification from - o - . 123 - - - . - - 123
tangible assets ) ’ . _
Business- combination 21,191 - . 4,833 - - 1,406 - 27,430
. A1 30 September 2022 52,430 . 4,142 7213 1,153 296 1,406 958 67,598
Accumulated amortisation
and impairment .
At 1 October 2021 : 11,182 2,326 - 2,267 . 1,092 . 281 - - 17,148
Amortisation for the year . - - 855 292 ' 14 42 70 - 1,273
Transfer between classes . - - - 44 (44)‘ - - N
At 30 September 2022 11,182 3.181 02,559 . 1150 279 70 ‘ - 18,421
Net book value
At 30 September 2021 . 20,057  .1,089 13 . B I 15 - 758 22,093
At 30 September 2022 41,248 " 961 E 4,654 . 3 7 1,33 . 958' 49177
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"2 Goodwill "

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisitions over the
Group's interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the business, subsidiary
or associated undertaking at the date of: acquisition. Goodwill has been. ollocofed to the
~ following cash generohng units (CGUs): ’

Existing

Tronsfer of

~ Recorded CGUs
goodwill - on following
acquired acquisition acquisition
- from TAC of TAC of TAC
] S - 2021  Headlthcare Healthcare Healthcare 2022
Goodwill £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
InHeoIth diagnostic ond heolthcore '
solutions 10,708 - - - 10,708
InHealth Inteligence 1,631 - - - 1,631
Echocardiography 2,349 - - (2,349) - -
Vista Diagnostics 1,085 - - - 1,085
Reporting business 1.113 - - - 1,113
Endoscopy business 1,654 - - -(1,654) . -
Open MRI business. 1,517 - - - . 1,517
.TAC business - 1,177 20,014 4,003 25,194
'20,057 1,177 20,014 -

41,248

The Echocardiography goodwill and Endoscopy business goodwull are now- mcluded in The TAC
business goodwﬂl following the ocqum’non on 30 June 2022.

To colculcn‘e the recoverable amount, determined by their value in use, of the material CGUs,
" the following key assumptions were cpplied: L .
: 2022 2021

Period on which monogemen’r c:pproved plon is based - o -5 Years SYears
Discount rate (pre-tax) ) . 8% 8% -
Discount rate (post-tax) ) ‘ : . 7% . 7%
Average growth rcte applied over the plon period of material c
CGUs: 4

- InHealth diagnostic and heolthcore,soluhons ' , 12% - 1% .

- TACbusiness . . ) : : _ N/a N/a

The TAC acquisition was comple’red 3 months prior to year end, and there have been no
" indicators of lmpalrmenf from performance of the CGU in the period since ocqunsmon

Monogement hove estimated the discount rate by reference to a weighted average cost of
capital as adjusted for appropriate risk factors reﬂec’nng current economic conditions and the
. risk profile of the CGUs. .

The Group's ‘estimate of lmpcurmen'rs is most sensmve to chonges in the discount rate and plan
cashflows. Sensitivity analysis has been carried out by reference to both of these assumptions.
This demonstrated that neither a 5% reduction in the forecast growthrate, nora 9% mcreose in
the discount rate would lead to an impairment of goodwill. v

. By performing reverse stress feshng as per the above the Group considers Thot its goodwnl
impairment calculations are not sensitive to any reasonable change in the key assumptions.
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13 Other financial assets
' 2022 . 2021
£000 £000
Non-current .
Financial assets designated as fair value through other 26,331 19.474

comprehensive income .

The Company has taken the option dvoiloble L'Jnder"IFRS 9 to classify fhese investments as fair
.value through other .comprehensive income. A gain of £3,359,000 has been recognised
through.other comprehensive income for year ended 30 September 2022 (2021: £1,848,000).

14  Deferred tax assets and liabiliies
Recognised deferred tax‘assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and Iiobﬂiﬁes are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities - Net
2022 . 2021 2022 2021 - 2022 202]
£000 £000 £000 £000 .£000  £000

an-curr'en'r assets including: Property, plohf'

and equipment and-intangible assets timing 465 349 (6,441) (1,992) ‘(5,976‘), (1,643)

. differences . _— o
Pension and post-retirement benefits - 30 303 - - 30 303
Provisions . 432 - 238 - - 432 - 238
~Deferred tax osse’rs/(lidbiliﬁes) . B - 927 890 (6,441) (1,992} (5.514) (1,102)

. Deferred tax assets of £927,000 {2021: £890,000} are only recognised to the extent that the
_ Directors consider it more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which
the underlying timing differences can be deducted. The unrecognised deferred tax assets are

“not material. - : '

The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the table above hq\/e no_expify.

15 Inventories , A
2022, 2021
£000 . £000

Consumables . R - : 1,086 783

The Group recognised £9,284,000 (2021: £8,851 ,OOO) of consumables as cost of sales in the year.
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6. Trade and other receivables

2022 2021

£000 . £000
Trade receivables : . . . - 31,847 . 21,026
Other receivables : _ ' 372 . 410
Prepayments and accrued income ) . ' 15290 . 10,760
Contingent consideration receivable : 2,788 . -
All amounts falling due within one year. o s : ' ' 50,297 32,196
Non-current assets folhng due offer more than one yeor ' : '
Other recewobles . . . ) . - 4,592 - 3,056
Prepoyments C 5. - 70
4,597 3,126
17 Trdde and other payables ‘
o 2022 A 2021
£000- £000
Current. - ) o )
Lease liabilities . o - 8,778 6.184
Trade payables : . ’ : 5,737 14,663
Tax and social security payable S0 9,425 4,552
_ Contingent consideration due to business comblnohons o 439 555
Armounts owed to parent'company - - . 6 19
‘Non-trade poyobles and accrued expenses o o . 69,027 - 55,265
93412° 81,238
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18  Provisions
Onerous Pension Dismantlement Dilapidation
contract - provision provision provision Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 October 2021 ' . 2,817 405 820 4,307 8,349
Provisions made during the year 1,848 - - 79 1,927
Utilised during the year T ‘ (2,088) - - - .(2.088)
Unwinding of discounted amount } , - - 29 - 29 .
At 30 September 2022 ' 2,577 405 :849 4,386 8.217

A provision has been created for Ioss- mdking conifracts where no potential contractual or -
operational improvements are possible. The provmon will be utilised over the remaining
contract terms of between 1 cnnd 6 years.

- A provision was created in- 2017 for the . Federated Pension Plan definéd benefit pension
scheme to cover the uncertainties in flnohsmg the fair value of the Iloblllty This is expecfed to
unwmd when the scheme closes.

The dismantiement provision relates to the-expected cost of restoring the leasehold properties
based on estimates of the likely cash out flow at the end of the lease, discounted using an
appropriate discount rate: This provision will be utilised upon lease exit with terms of between 6
and 10 years.

The dllop|dohon provision relates to the estimate of exit costs at the end of the lease term on
leasehold properties entered into without significant ‘asset removal. The provision is being
increased until the-end of the lease term at WhICh point it will be u’nllsed This is expecfed to be
utilised beiween 2 ond 22 years. .

- These provisions hold inherent uncertainty but the estimates ond judgements made do not-
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised in-the Financial Statements. .

19 Trade and other payables: non-current

2022 2021

, £000 £000
Non-current , T

Lease liabilities . : 23,895 12,858

Other creditors : ’ 1,705 957

25,600 - 13,815
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20 leases =

The Group has lease contracts for propeéerty, vehicles and equipment used in the operations.
The amounts recognised in the Financial Statements in relation to the leases are as follows:.

Amounts recognised in statement of financial position

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-use assets net book value
"Property o

Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles

Lease liabilities
- Current ’
~ Non-current

Amounts recogniséd in the profit and loss oc_éo,u’nf

: : ) . ' Note \
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets.
Property :
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles
¢ 10
Impairment charge of right-of-use assets :
Property ' ' _ 10
Interest expense - - I o 8

The total cash outflow for leases during the year was ‘£7',842;000.

2021

2022 _
£000 £000
. 9.338 10,221
122,522 9,141
886 970
132,746 20,332
8,778 6,184
23,895 12,858
32,673 - 19,042
2022 2021
£000 £000
(2,256) . (2.378)
- (3.850) (2.376)
(561) - (588)
- (6,667) "(5.342)
- (515) -
(749) (641)

44



InHealth' Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 September 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements - Group kconfinued)

20 Leases (continued)
Lease liabilities are due as follows:
' : ‘ C . .. 2022 2021
- ) o L £000 £000
Less than one year . g . A - 8,778 6,184 '
. Between one and five years ) } 20,448 . © 9,578
More than five years o - 3,427 3,280
32,673 19,042 -

Contractual undiscounted cash flows in respect of these leases are due as follows:

02022 . . 2021

£000 £000

Less than one year . . - ‘ 9,456 5,849

Between one and five years _ . " o - 22,124 10,703
More than five years o ‘ 3,748 - 3860 ¢

35,328 20,412

2 Employee benefits

The pension cost charged to profit and loss for the year represents contributions payable by
"the Group to all pension’ schemes accounted for os defmed contnbuhon schemes and
amounts to £3,626,000 (2021: £3, 328 000).

Contributions amounting to £180,000 (2021 £305 000) were payable to the deflned contribution
schemes at the end of the year relating to the final month and are included in creditors.

Defined confribuﬁ_oh pension schemes
" The Group operates three defined contribution pension schemes.
Defined benefit pension schemes

The Group operates three pension schemes providing benefits based on final permonoble pay.
The latest actuarial valuation for the schemes are as follows

Scheme 1 - InHealth Defined Benefit Pension Scheme - . . 10ctober2019
Scheme 2 - The Federated Pension Plan - InHealih Intelligence Limited 5 April 2019
Scheme 3 - Prudential Ploﬁnu'm Pension — InHelo Limited 31 December 2019

These ‘have been ogreed between the Trusfees and the relevant Group componles GMP
equollsohon does not impact any of the pension schemes in the Group. Whilst the new
actuarial valuations have not yet been agreed for each scheme, fhere are no indicators of a
sngnlflcom‘ chonge in the funding plan required for each. )
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21 Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benefit pension schemes {continued)

Movemenfs in net def:ned benefit pension liability

Defined benefit Fair ;/olue of plan Net defined benefit -
~ obligation assets liability
2022 2021 2022 2021 - 2022 2021
£000 £000 "~ £000 £000 £000 °~  £000
" Balance at 1 October S (4,606) {4,411) 3,710 3,355 (896) * (1.05¢)
“Included in profit or loss - : : .
Current service cost ©. (117) (122) N - - M7 T (122)
Interest cost. (9 . (69) 81 60 - (10) (%)
Administration services , , - (4) (3) (38) (3) (42)
. (208) (195) . 78 22 (130)  (173)
Included in OCI
Actuarial gain/(loss) arising from 1757 (65) (154) . 222 - 1,603 157
change in financial assumptions : :
.Restriction on recognisable surplus - - (759) (54) (759) (54)
1,757 (65) S (913) - 168 844 - 103
Other A ) ‘

Contributions paid by the ’ (0) (0) 182 230 182 230 -
employer - . : .
Contributions paid by the . ) (25) (26) - 25 26 - -

employee - . C - . .

- Benefits paid : . - 123 91 . - (123) - (21) - ‘ -
98  65. . 84 165 182 230

Balance at 30 September (2,95?) (4.606) T 2,959 3,710 ' - (896)

The Federated Pension Plon and Prudential Platinum Pension are part of a multi- employer
scheme, therefore the Group does not have an unconditional right of return to the schemes
assets were the scheme to be wound up and as such would not be paid out a share of any
remaining assets. There is a restriction on recognisable surplus of £251,000 for the year ended
30 September 2022 (2021: £314,000) and £291,000 (2021: £nil) for the respective schemes.

in addition, the Group has chosen not to recognise the £531,000 surplus on the InHealth Defined
Benefit Pension Scheme for the year ended 30 Sepfember 2022 (2021: &nil) due to sugnlfnconf
movements in morkei conditions during the year.
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21 Employee benefits (continued)

Defined benefit penéion schemes (continued) -

Defined benefit pension scheme assets
Scheme 1 - InHealth Defined Benefit Pension Scheme

. Scheme 2 - The Federated Pension Plan - inHealth Intelligence Limited
Scheme 3 - Prudential Platinum Pension — InHealth Limited

Total defined benefit assets.

Defined benefit 'penSIon scheme liabilities

Scheme 1 - InHealth Defined Benefit Pension Scheme

Scheme 2 - The Federated Pension Plan — InHealth Intelligence Limited
" Scheme 3 - Prudential Platinum Pension - InHealth Limited

Total defined benefit liabilities
Total defined benefit pension scheme net liability
' 5

The major categories of scheme assets are as follows:

Scheme :

InHealth Deflned Beniefit Pension Scheme ,
Investment funds . . 1
Other (including cash and cash equwolem‘s) 1
Restriction of pension surplus i b
The Federated Pension Plan - InHealth Intelligence Limited .
Equity instruments” ‘ 2
Bonds 2
Diversified growth funds 2
Other (including cash and cash equwclen’rs) - 2
Restriction of pension surplus - 2
‘Prudential Platinum.Pension - InHealth Limited

- Debt Instruments A ' 3
Investment funds : ' -3

Re_'striction of pension surplus - ' . 3

Total

2022 2021
£000 £000 -
2,315 2,648
270 338
374 724
2959 3710
(2.315) - (3,473)
(270) (338)
(374) {795)
(2,959)  (4.606)
- (896)
2022 2021 .
£000 . £000
2,789 2,589
57 59
(531) -
2,315 2,648
231 289
173 217
116 145
1 1
(251) (314)
270 338
158 216
507 508
(291) -
374 724
2,959 - 3,710

47



IrHealth Group Holdings PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements
for 1he Year Ended 30 September 2022

Noies to the Financial Sia’remenfs Group (com‘lnued}
21 Employee benefits (conhnued}
. Defined benefit pension scheme (confinued

Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date (expressed as-weighted averages):

InHealth Defined Ben,efi.f Pension Scheme ) K 2022 2021 -

Discount rate at 30 September ) 4.7% - 2.0%
Future salary increases . 2.5% 2.5%
“Inflation (CPI) . S - o 30%  27%
Future pension increases _ . : 3.4% 3.4%

- The -assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the balance sheet
date are based on' standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future
improvements in longevity. The assumptions are equwdlenf to expechng a é0-year old to live -
for a number of years as follows :

. As at 30 September 2022
Retiring today .
Males T ’ ’ . ' 26.6 years
‘Females ' . : ) - 29.2 years
~ Retiring in 20 years . '
Males - S : : , ' 28.1 years
Females ' e : : o 30.7 years

The Group expects to pdy £1 23,000 in contributions to this defined benefit plan in 2023.
R , .
' The Federated Pension Plan - InHealth Intelllgence Limited : 2022 2021

Discount rate at 30 September '5.4% 2.0%
Future salary increases c : 2.5% 2.5%
Inflation (RPI) oo - 3.9% . 2.7%
Future pension increases : - 3.5% © 3.4%

The assumptions relating to’longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the balance sheet
date are based on standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future
improvements in longevity. The:assumptions are equivalent to expechng Q 65- yeor old to live
for a number of years as follows

As at 30 September 2022
R-etiring today , : .
Males . : ' ) 21.5 years
Females - _ , oo o 23.8 years.
Retiring in 20 years : _ '
Males _ . ' - ' . ‘ '22.8 years
Females . . . 25.2 years

The Group expects to pay £nilin contributions to this defined benefit plan in 2023.

Prudential Platinum Pension - InHealth Limited ' 2022 ¢ 2021
Discount rate at 30 September : . : 4.7% = . . 2.0%
Future salary increases ' 2.5% A 2.5%
Inflation rate (CPI) : ‘ - 3.0% 2.7%

Future pension increases o . . 3.6% 3.4% .
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21 Employee benefits (confinued)
: Deflned benefit pension scheme (conhnued)

The assumptions relo’nng to’longevity underlying the pension liabilities o’f the bolonce sheet
date are based on standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future
improvements in longevity. The assumptions are equwolen’r to expec’nng a 65-year old to live
for a. number of years as foIIows

As at 30 September 2022 - -

Refiring today: 4 A
“Males - : , - 20.9 years
Females 4 : . - . 238years

Rehnng in 20 years . . :
Males R ) ‘ 22.1 years
Females .- o ' ’ : 25.2 years

The Group expects to poy £109.,000 in contributions to the Prudenhol Platinum Pension'scheme
planin 2023. » :

Sensitivity analysis
~ Analysis of the sensitivity to the pnnapol ossumphons of the present value of ’rhe defined beneflt
oblngcmon is set out below: .

InHealth Defined Beneflf Pension Scheme Change in assumptions . Change in liabilities
Discount rate ‘ Decrease by 0.5% . . Increase by 10%
Rate of inflation ' , Increase by 0.5% Increase by 6%
Rate of salary growth - : Increase by 0.5% - Increase by 1% -
Life.expectancy . . Increase by 0.5% Increase by 2%

The Federated Pension Plan - InHealth Change in assumptic')ns Change in liabilities
Intelligence Limited o ' ‘ .

Discount rate Decrease by 0.3% _Increase by 1%
Rate of inflation . . C . Increase by 0.3% " Increase by 1%
Rate of salary growth Increase by 0.3% Increase by 1%

Life expectancy ' : Increase by 1 year Increase by 1%
Prudential Platinum Pension - InHealth ‘Change in assumptions, Change in liabilities
Limited . . :

Discountrate -~ | ' o Decrease by 0.1% Increase by 3%
Rate of inflation L ' ' - Increase by, 0.1% ~ Increase by 1%
Rate of salary growth 4 - Increase by 0.1% ~ Increase by 2%

_ Life expectancy : Increase by 1 year . _ Increase by 3%

The sensitivities shown above are approximate and each sensitivity considers one change in
* isolation: The sensitivity of the schemes obligations to significant actuarial assumptions has
been estimated, based on the average age within the pension schemes and the normal
retrement age of members and the duration of the liabilities of the Schemes, which as at 30
Septermber 2022 is approximately 24 years (InHealth Defined Benefit.scheme), 16 years (The

" Federated Pension Plan - InHealth ‘Intelligence lel’red) and 36 years (Prudential Platinum
Pen5|on InHeoh‘h timited}.
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21 Employee benefits (conhnued)

All plans typically expose the Group to actuarial risks such as investment risk, ‘interest rate risk
and mortality risk. The discount rate used to calculate the defined benefit pension obligation
reflects the yield available on a h|gh quality corporote bond of equuvolent currency and term

. to the liabilities at the date of the valuation. A decrease in corporate bond yields, a rise in
inflation or an increase in life expectancy would result in an increase to all three schemes'
liabilities, which means movements in the schemes' assets may well not correspond to changes
in the value of the liabilities over time. leading to voldtility in the results from_year fo year. The
Directors do not consider there to be uncertainty at the end of reporting period that hCIS a
significant risk of resulting in a material odjustment to the carrying amounts of assets .and
liabilities within the next fmoncndl year. .

If pen5|ons are not bought out and members live longer than ekpected the benefits will be -
payable for longer than allowed for in the calculation of the liabilities leading to an experlence
loss on the plans liabilities.

Fundlng .
The plans are fully funded by thé Group's SUbSIleﬂeS The fundmg requwements are based on
. the pension fund's actuarial measurement framework set out in the funding policies of the plan.’
The funding of the plans are based on a separate actuarial valuation for funding purposes for
WhICh the assumptions moy differ from the ossumphons obove

Shore based payments

The Group commenced a new long-term growth share plan in which certain members of
Group management were invited to purchase shares in InHealth Group Limited at their fair
value at the date of the grant. 131,093 shares were issued in the year ended 30 September
2022 {2021: nil). No plans realised in 2022 {2021: £7,208,000).

The growth share plan enables the.mémbers to share in the groups growth in the event that.
group performance excéeds an agreed growth target either through an equity or cash
settlement depending on a number of defined scheme exlt events.

The Group has accounted for the plan as equity settled as th|s is management’s view of the
most probable method of settlement. On this basis the plan was measured at fair value at the
date of the grant. :

22 Capital and reserves
‘ A Share Called up
Called up share capital = . i : . premium  share capital

v £000 . £000
Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid ) ' . . :
Inissue at 1 October 2021 and 30 September 2022 (1,309,597 . 96,740 B 1,309
Ordinary shares of £1 each) . .

“All shoreé are classified in shareholders' funds. -

The ‘Other reserves' relates to a historic repurchase of shares in the Compohy's‘direct
subsidiary. - :
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23 Commitments '
Capital commitments

During the year ended 30 September 2022, the Group entered into confroc’rs fo purchase MR
equipment and CT scanners for £27,052,000 (2021: £18,010, 000). These commitments are .
expected to be settled in the following financial year. : . -

24 Related parties

The Group has taken the exemption available under FRS 101 in respect of the requirement to
disclose related party transactions with Key Management Personnel and transactions entered
into between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party
to the transaction is wholly owned by such a membeér. All of the Group s related porty.
) fronsochons ore covered by this exemption.

- 25 Events after.the balance sheet date

On'13 April 2023, TAC Healthcare Limited acquired a 90% stake in International SOS (Medical
Services) UK Limited.. The company’s principal activity-is the provision of medical services
offshore and onshore to a variety of sectors inc!uding Oil and Gas.

26 Ultimate porent company and parent company of Iorgér group

The ultimate parent underfokmg and controlling party is The Damask Trust, the Trustees of which
are lH Brodbury and The Embleton Trust Corporation Limited.

The Group in which the Compony is consolidated is InHealth UK Holdlngs Limited. This compony
is incorporated in England and Wales. The consolidated financial statements-of. this Group are
available to the public and may be obtained from Beechwood Hall, Klngsmeod Road, High
Wycombe, Buckinghamshire, HP11 1JL.
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‘Company Balance Sheet

At 30 September 2022

~ Fixed assets
- .Investments

Current assets
Debtors: amounts follmg due
within one year
Debtors: amounts falling-due
after more than one. year '
- Cashand cosh‘ equivalents

Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year '

‘Net current.assets

Net assets

‘Capital and reserves

Called up, share capital

Share premium account
. Profit and loss account.

Shorehdlders' funds

These Financial Siotemenfs were opproved by the Board- of Dlrectors on 28 June 2023 ond were

" signed on its behalf by

=

'R J Bradford
Director

Note 2022
: £000
2
3 . 3,685
3 327
121
4,133
4 ©(321)

Company registered number 05578428

2022
£000

91,963

91,963

3812,

95,775

1,309
96,740
(2.274)

95,775

2021 2021
£000 £000

91,963

. 91,963

3,768

50

3.818

(9)

3,809

95,772 .

1,309.

96,740
(2,277)

95,772

The oécompom} noi‘es on pages 54 to 57 form part of these Financial Statements.

I
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Company Statement of Changes in Equnty
.For the year ended 30 Sepfember 2022

f";ofif and

Share Share loss = Total '
capital premium account equity
£000 £000 © £000 £000
At'1 October 2020 : 1,309 96,740 (2.271) 95,778
- Comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year. : . ‘ RS - 6) . .16

At 30 September 2021 and 1 October 2021 1809 96740 (2277) 95772

Comp(ehensive income for the year : : : .
Profit-for the year ' ‘ . - - .3 : 3

At 30 Sebfember 2022 _ 1,309 ‘96,740 ' (2,274) 95,775

The occombonying notes on pages 54 to 57 form part of these Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements - Company
(forming part of the Financial Statements)

1 Accounting 'po||c1es

The following accounting policies have been applied consrsfemly in deolrng with items, which are
consrdered material in relation ’ro the Financial Statements, excepf as noted below.

Basis of preparation

These Financial Statements were prepared in.accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework ("FRS 101").

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Company appliesthe recognition, measurement and
disclosure requirements of UK-adopted international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 but makes amendments where necessary in order to
comply with the Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101
dlsclosure exemptions has been taken.

Under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Compcny is exempf from the requrremen’r to
presem its own profit cnd loss account.

In these Financial Statements, the Compony has applied the exemphons ovcnloble under FRS 101 .
mresped of the following disclosures: .

- IAS 1 *Presentation of Financial Statements’: Exemption from providing comparative movemenf
- schedules for share ccprto! mtonglble assets, and property, plant and equrpmenf

- 1AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements': Exemption from presenting a statement of cash
flows, from making an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with IFRS standards and
from the capital management disclosure requirements of the s’rondord

-1AS 7 ‘Cash Flow Stotemen’r’ Complete exemp’rron from preparing a cash flow statement and
the related notes.

- IAS 8 '‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Esiimo’res and Errors’: Exemption from the
disclosure of new or revised IFRSs that have not been amended, as well as the dlsclosure of their
likely impact. ‘

- IAS 24 ‘Related Party Di5c|osures' DisClosure exemption for related party transactions entered
into between two or more members of a group provided fhot any subsidiary whrch is a party ot
the transaction is wholly owned by such a member.

- |AS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures': Exemption from disclosure of compensation for key
management personnel. .

- - 1AS 36 'Impairment of Assets': Available exemptions from disclosures at the cash generohng unit
level, including as it pertains to assumptions and sensitivity analysis.

-IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments': Complete exemption of the disclosures mondoted by the standard,
other ’rhon where required to comply wrth legol requirements.

- IFRS 13 Forr Value Measurement’: Comple’re exemption of the dlsclosures mondcﬂed by the
standard, other than where required to.comply with legal requirements.

Taking up these disclosure exemptions rs made pessible by the inclusion of equivalent disclosures
within the consolidated Financial Statements of InHealth UK Holdings Limited, the largest group in
which the results of the Company are consolidated.

The accounting policies sét out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to -
all periods presented i in these Financial Statements.

Judgements made by the Directors in the application of these accounting pohcres Tho'r have a
significant effect on the Financial Statements and estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 2 in the-Group's notes.
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. Notes to the Fmoncml Statemenfs - Company (conhnued}
1-  Accounting policies {conhnued}
1.1 Measurement convention

~ The Financial Statements are prebore'd on the historical cost basis.

1.2 Going concern ' B

The Directors have considered the factors that impact the Company's future development,
performance, cash flows and financial position along with the Compariy’s current liquidity in
forming their opinion on the going concern basis. The Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the:
foreseeable future, thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in -
preparing the annual Financial Statements. Refer to policy 1.2 in the Group's notes for fuII analysis
performed by the Directors.

1.3 Fmanc:al instruments ‘

The Compcny s material financial msfruments compnse investments in sub5|d|ones and cmounfs
due from group undertakings.

Investmenfs

Investments in Jomﬂy corn‘rol|ed entmes associates ond subsudlorles are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. . .

Amounts due from group undertakings

Amounts due from group undertakings are initially recorded at fair value and are subsequently ’
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amounts are assessed for

impairment using the expecfed credit loss method, as descnbed in note I .5in the Group Financiai

Statements. . :

2 Investments

Shares in group
‘undertakings .
£000
Cost
At 1 October 2021 and 30.September 2022 - 91,963
" Provisions : ' ’ . 4 : :
At 1.October 2021 and 30 September 2022 S . -
Net book value , o , ‘
At 30 September 2021 : : : _ ‘ 91,963
At 30 September 2022 . T ' , 91,963

55



InHeolth Group Holdlngs PLC
Directors’ Report and Financial Sto’remem‘s
for the Year Ended 30 September 2022
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2 Investments (continued)

The Company has the following investments in subsidiaries:

Direct Subsidiaries

InHealth Ventures Limited (l)

InHealth Group Limited (l)

Subsidiary undertakings of InHealth Group Limited
InHealth Limited (1)

InHealth Properties Limited (1)

InHealth Facilities Management Limited (l)
InHealth. {London) Limited (1)

Subsidiary undertakings of InHealth Limited
InHealth Molecular Imoglng Limited (1)
Vista Diagnostics Limited (1)

Preventicum UK Limited (1)

InHealth Reporting Limited (1)

InHealth Endoscopy Limited (1)

InHealth Echotech Limited (1)

Lister InHealth Limited (1) - '

Cardinal InHealth Limited (1)

InHealth Diagnostics and Healthcare Soluhons lened (2)

InHealth Pathology Limited (1}

InHealth Intelligence Limited (1)

InHealfth CATS Limited (1)

London Centre for Advanced Diagnostics Limited (1)

United Open MRI Limited (1)

TAC Healthcare Limited (1)

Subsndlary undertaking of Preventicum UK lelied

. Buroclinics (UK) Limited (1)

Subsidiary undertakings of InHealth Reporting Limited
e-Locum Services Limited (1) ’

- Medical Imaging Audit and Accreditation Limited (1)
Subsidiary undertaking of InHealth Properties Limited
InHealth Diagnostic and Imaging Limited (1)
Subsidiary undertakings of United Open MRI Limited
The London Upright MRI Company Limited {1)-
Yorkshire Upright MRI Centre Limited (1)

Subsidiary undertakings of TAC Healthcare Limited
InHealth Endoscopy Limited (1)
InHealth Echotech Limited (1)
InHealth Pathology Limited (1)
C7 Health Limited (3)
Subsidiary undertaking of InHealth Endoscopy Limited
Prime Endoscopy (Bristol) Limited (1)
Subsidiary undertakings of C7 Health Limited
Diagnostic World Limited (3) ‘
TAC Healthcare Group Limited (4) -
" Private GP Services Holdings Limited (3)

Subsidiary undertaking of TAC Healthcare Group lelfed

" The Aberdeen Clinic Limited (4)

Subsidiary undertaking of Private GP Services Holdmgs
Limited

~ Private GP Services (UK) Limited (3)

Class of

- shares held

£1.
Ip
£1
£1
£1
£l

£l
£l
10p
-£1
£1
£1
£1
1p
€1
£1
£1
£1.
£1
£1
£1

£

£1
£1

£1

3
£l

£1.
£1
- £l
£1

£1
£
£1
£1

£1

£ .

Ownershlp

- 2022

. 100%

100%

100%
100%-
100%

" . 100%

100%.
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

94%
100%
100%
100%

78.5%

100%

100%
100%

100%

100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100% -
100%
- 80%

100%

100%

2021

100%

100%

100%
100%-
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

. 100%
100%

100%
100%

94%
100%

100% -

100%

100%,

100%

100%
100%

100%
100% -
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2 Investments (continued)

(i') The reg|stered offlce address of these subsidiary under’rokungs is Beechwood Hall, K|ngsmeod
' Road, High Wycombe, Buckunghomshwe HP11 1JL.

. {2) - The registered office oddress of this subsidiary undertokmg is 1 Stokes Place, St Sfephen s Green
Dublin, Republic of Ireland. ’ . .

(3j~ The registered office address of these sub5|d|ory undertoklngs is Gatewcy West Eos’r Street
Leeds, LS9 8DA.

{4) Theregistered office address of these subsidiary undertakings is Wellhecds Crescenf Wellheads
" Industrial Estate, Aberdeen, Aberdeensh|re AB21 7GA.

"3 Debtors
2022 2021
£000 £000°
Debtors falling due within one year . o .
. Amounts owed by group undertakings _ _ . 3,685 3,768
Debtors fdlling dué after more than one yéar. o ’
" Other debtors - . 327 -
4 . Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
i L 2022 2021
. £000 © £000
Accruals and deferred income - ; ' 10 9
Amounts owed to group undertakings ' 2311

321 - - 9

57



